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Thi s proceeding arising under the Federal Mne Safety and Health
Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 0801 et seq. (1982)("Mne Act" or "Act"),
i nvol ves a citation and i mm nent danger w thdrawal order issued by
t he Departnment of Labor's Mne Safety and Health Admi nistration ("NMSHA")
to Cyprus Enpire Corporation ("Cyprus"). The citation, as nodified,
alleges a violation of 30 C.F. R 075.202(a), requiring that the roof of
areas where persons work or travel be supported or otherw se controll ed.
The i mm nent danger order, issued pursuant to section 107(a) of the
M ne Act, arose out of the same conditions as the citation. 2/ Al so
at issue is whether the Secretary of Labor's

1/ 30 CF.R [O75.202(a) provides as foll ows:

The roof, face and ribs of areas where persons
work or travel shall be supported or otherw se
controlled to protect persons from hazards rel ated
to falls of the roof, face or ribs and coal or rock
bur st s.

2/ Section 107(a) of the Act provides:

I f, upon any inspection or investigation of a
coal or other mne which is subject to this [Act],
an aut horized representative of the Secretary finds
that an i nm nent danger exists, such representative
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prehearing nodification of the citation and i nmm nent danger order was
proper. Comm ssion Administrative Law Judge John J. Morris permtted

t he nodification, concluded that Cyprus violated section 75.202(a),
affirmed the i mm nent danger order, and assessed a civil penalty of $200.
11 FMBHRC 368 (March 1989) (ALJ). For the reasons that follow, we affirm
the judge:s all owance of the nodification and his affirmance of the

i mm nent danger order. W reverse the judge's finding of a violation of
section 75.202(a), however, and we vacate the citation and civil penalty.

Cyprus owns and operates the Eagle No. 5 M ne, an underground coa
mne located in Craig, Uah. During the evening shift on Friday, My 20,
1988, Charles Mdss, section foreman, observed poor roof conditions in the
tailgate entry of the 16 East | ongwall section. The area of poor roof was
i medi ately adjacent to Shield #126, the |last shield on the | ongwall face.
A wal kway running parallel to the face and passing under the longwall's
shields, including Shield #126, exited into the area of bad roof in the
tailgate entry.

Moss contacted the shift foreman, Robert Pobirk, and they exam ned
the roof. Pobirk directed Mbss to string yellow "danger tape" across the
end of Shield #126 to bl ock access fromthe face to the area of bad roof.
Pobi rk al so had yel | ow danger tape placed across the tailgate entry outby
the area of poor roof conditions to block access fromthat direction

On the next shift, on May 21, 1988, nminers installed additiona
support in the "dangered off" area between the cribs that were already
present. They placed two cribs to prevent the poor roof conditions
fromspreading further into the tailgate entry and a third crib to
prevent rib sloughage. They also installed two roof jacks and two
timbers. According to Pobirk, additional support was not placed in
the area closest to Shield #126 because such support woul d have served
no purpose and woul d have exposed the miners installing such support to
the hazard of a roof fall. Tr. 91-92, 110-11

shal | determ ne the extent of the area of such

m ne t hroughout which the danger exists, and

i ssue an order requiring the operator of such

m ne to cause all persons, except those referred
to in section [104(c)] of this title, to be

wi thdrawn from and to be prohibited fromentering,
such area until an authorized representative of
the Secretary determ nes that such inmm nent danger
and the conditions or practices which caused such
i mm nent danger no | onger exist. The issuance of
an order under this subsection shall not preclude
t he i ssuance of a citation under section [104] of
this title or the proposing of a penalty under
section [110] of this title.

30 U.S.C. 0817(a).
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On the evening shift on Tuesday, May 24, 1988, MSHA I nspector
Phillip G bson observed the area of poor roof adjacent to Shield #126
The previously strung yel |l ow danger tape was still in place prohibiting
travel fromthe |ongwall wal kway into the area of poor roof. The danger
tape in the tailgate entry was also still in place, prohibiting trave
fromthat direction. Inspector G bson neasured the area of poor roof
adj acent to Shield #126 as being 6 feet 10 inches. The closest support
cribs were about three feet from Shield #126. Joint Exhibit 1 shows the
adversely affected area and is attached to this decision

As a result of his observations, G bson issued to Cyprus a section
104(a) citation, 30 U S.C. [B14(a), alleging a violation of 30 C.F.R
[45.202(b). 3/ The citation states

Loose, broken roof was present in the tailgate
entry of the 16 East longwall section. The coa
roof between two previously erected wooden cribs
was broken and sone roof had fallen to the mne
floor. Two previously installed resin grouted rods
wi th bearing plates were protrudi ng downward about
16 inches. The roof coal had fallen from around the
rods and the bearing plates. The affected area was
6 feet in length and 6 feet 10 inches in width. This
condi tion was one of the factors that contributed to
the i ssuance of [the inm nent danger order]; therefore,
no abatenent tine was set.

G bson al so designated the violation to be of a significant and substanti al
nat ure.

At the same time, G bson issued a section 107(a) inm nent danger
w t hdrawal order based on the same condition. The order states as foll ows:

Condition or Practice

Loose, broken roof was present in the tailgate

entry of the 16 East |ongwall working section

The | oose, broken roof (coal roof) was 6 feet in
length and 6 feet 10 inches in width. The affected
area was between two wooden cribs installed within

3 feet of the tailgate face shield (No. 126). A
violation of 75.202(b). The operator had al ready
dangered off the tailgate entry at the | ongwall face.

3/ 30 C.F.R [@5.202(b) provides:

No person shall work or travel under
unsupported roof unless in accordance with this
subpart.
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Area or Equi pnent

The tailgate entry of the 16 East |ongwall section
begi nning at No. 126 shield and extendi ng out by
about 10 feet.

VWhen I nspector G bson arrived on the surface, he called his
supervisor, Clarence Daniels. They agreed that to abate the citation
and order Cyprus would be permitted to continue mning in order to pass
by the dangerous area. Fromthe time the bad roof conditions were first
encountered on May 20, the |longwall face had advanced 16-1/2 feet, and
about 8 to 10 feet of further work would carry mning operations entirely
past the area of poor roof conditions. G bson nodified the inmm nent danger
order about two hours after it had been issued to state as foll ows:

[ The] I nmm nent Danger Order ... is hereby nodified

to allow mning to resume in order to mne pas[t]

the affected area of the tailgate entry of the 16 East
| ongwal | section. The roof had sat so precariously on
the wooden cribs in the tailgate entry, that renoving
themto install additional roof supports, posed a
greater hazard.

G bson i nposed no special conditions or restrictions on the continued
m ni ng.

VWhen I nspector G bson returned to the mine the next evening, My 25
1988, mi ning had progressed beyond the poor roof to a point where wooden
cri bs adequately contained the roof over the travelway into the tailgate
entry. Therefore, he ternminated the citation and order

Cyprus contested both the citation and w thdrawal order, and after
the Secretary proposed a civil penalty for the alleged violation the
matters were consolidated for hearing before Judge Mdrris. On Novenber 18,
1988, three days before the hearing, the inspector nodified the citation to
all ege a violation of section 75.202(a), rather than section 75.202(b). He
simlarly nodified the withdrawal order to reflect the nodification of the
citation. Counsel for Cyprus was notified of the anendnent on the sane
date, and the nodifications were served on Cyprus on the day of the
heari ng, Novenber 21, 1988.

At the hearing, Cyprus' counsel did not object to the nodifications.
I nstead, he acknow edged that the Secretary's counsel had notified him
approxi mately one nmonth before the hearing that the citation would |ikely
be nodified to allege a violation of section 75.202(a). He also
acknow edged that Cyprus was not prejudiced by the amendnent. Tr. 13.
The judge and the parties proceeded with the hearing on the basis of the
all egation of a section 75.202(a) violation. In its posthearing brief,
Cyprus neverthel ess raised an objection to the nodification of the citation
and order.
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In his decision, the adm nistrative |aw judge rejected Cyprus
bel ated objection to the nodification of the citation and order. The
j udge enphasi zed that Cyprus had conceded that the nodifications had
not resulted in prejudice. The judge also noted that amendnent of
pl eadings is largely conmtted to the discretion of the trial judge
pursuant to the standards contained in Fed. R Cv. P. 15(a). 11 FMSHRC
at 379. Accordingly, the judge approved the nodification of the citation
and order to allege a violation of section 75.202(a) instead of 75.202(b).
I d.

The judge also affirmed the i mm nent danger order. He rejected
Cyprus' argunent that the order was invalid because entry into the cited
area had been prohibited by the danger tape. The judge expl ained that the
"purpose of a 107(a) order is not only to cause the w thdrawal of mners,
but to insure that they remain out of the affected area until the condition
is corrected.” 11 FMBHRC at 377. The judge credited the MSHA inspector's
opi nion that the roof condition was imrnently dangerous to any m ner
exposed to it. 11 FVMBHRC at 376. The judge noted that, although in their
testimony Cyprus' witnesses did not fully enbrace the inspector's opinion
concerning the i mm nent danger, their actions in supporting the roof and
dangering off the area did. 11 FVMSHRC at 376. He further stated that,
al t hough no mner had entered the dangerous area while it was dangered off,
"actual exposure [of] a miner to a hazardous condition it not required to
find that [an] ... inmmnent danger exists.” 11 FMSHRC at 377.

Finally, in concluding that Cyprus had viol ated section 75.202(a),
the judge agreed with the Secretary's view that, as an acceptabl e
alternative to roof "support,” the standard's reference to a roof's being
"ot herwi se controlled" refers to sone formof "physical restraint of the
defective area.” 11 FMBHRC at 378-39. The judge rejected Cyprus' view
that its installation of yell ow danger tape constituted a "control”™ within
t he nmeani ng of section 75.202(a). 11 FMBHRC at 379. The judge st ated:

In conpliance with these issues | conclude that
conpliance with [75.202(a) can be acconplished in
several ways. Initially, as the regulation provides,
the area can be supported. |In the alternative, the
area may be barred down. The alternative of barring
down a defective area is contained in the statute and
it has been a control historically used. |If support
and barring down are not effective (the situation here)
then the regulation requires effective control. |
agree with the Secretary's view that some form of
physical restraint of the defective area is required.

I d.

The judge did not specifically address the question of whether the
cited area was a place "where persons work or travel"™ w thin the neani ng
of section 75.202(a). However, in his discussions of the inmnent danger
order, the judge found that "under normal circunstances, the tailgate
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end of the longwall would allow a mner to conme directly off of the
longwall into the return entry" and that "there were miners in the

vicinity of the defective roof.” 11 FMSHRC at 377. He al so found

t hat wal ked under the area of bad roof and no one went through the

area while it was dangered off...." Id.

Cyprus contends that the judge erred in permtting the nodification
of the citation and imm nent danger order. Cyprus subnmits that the
Secretary failed to explain adequately the delay in anmendi ng the docunents
and that the delay was unreasonabl e.

Al t hough the Commi ssion's procedural rules do not address amendnent
of pleadi ngs, the Conm ssion may properly |l ook for guidance to Fed. R Giv.
P. 15(a) ("Rule 15(a)"). 4/ See Conmm ssion Procedural Rule 1(b), 29 CF.R
02700.1(b). Under Rule 15(a), the trial court possesses considerab
di scretion in resolving notions seeking | eave to anend pl eadi ngs. Such
leave is to be freely granted in the interest of justice, and a court's
determinations in this regard will not be overturned except for abuse of
di scretion. See, e.g., 3 J. More, More's Federal Practice Par. 15.08
(2d ed. 1989)("Moore's"). See El Paso Rock Quarries, Inc., 3 FMSHRC 35,

38 (January 1981). Anong the permni ssible purposes of such amendnents are
changes in the nature of the plaintiff's clainms or |egal theories. E.g.
Moore's, supra, Par. 15.08[3]. Delay alone, regardl ess of |ength, does
not bar a proposed anendnment if the other party is not prejudiced.
Moore's, Par. 15.08[4]. Here, the Secretary, through her nodifications,
sought only to allege that a different, though substantively rel ated,
subsection of the same standard applied to the cited conditions.

Cyprus conceded at the hearing that it was not prejudiced by the
nodi fications, and proceeded with the hearing without protest. [If Cyprus
was aggrieved by the amendnents, it shoul d have objected at the hearing
before the judge; its objection in the post-hearing brief was not tinely.
Cf. AH Smth, 5 FMBHRC 13, 17 n. 5 (January 1983). Therefore, we hold
that the judge did not abuse his discretion in allow ng the nodifications.

Cyprus argues that the judge erred in concluding that it violated

4/ Rul e 15(a) states in part:

Amendnents. A party may anend his pl eadi ng once
as a matter of course at any time before a responsive
pl eading is served or, if the pleading is one to which
no responsive pleading is permtted and the action has
not been placed upon the trial calendar, he may so
anend it at any time within 20 days after it is served.
O herwi se a party may anmend his pleading only by | eave
of court or by witten consent of the adverse party;
and | eave shall be freely given when justice so
requires.
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section 75.202(a) for two reasons: (1) under the cited standard the
area at issue was not an area "where persons work or travel;" and
(2) "dangering-off" the area is an acceptable formof "control" of
the roof. Because we find the first issue dispositive, we need not
reach the second.

To establish a violation of 30 C.F. R [75.202(a), the Secretary
was required by the ternms of the standard to prove that the cited area

was an area "where persons work or travel." As discussed above, the
judge found that "under normal circunstances, the tailgate end of the
l ongwal | would allow a mner to cone directly off the longwall into the

return entry." 11 FMBHRC 377 (enphasis added). What the judge did not
consi der, however, is whether "normal circunstances” are presented here.

The record in this case establishes that as soon as Cyprus
encountered the poor roof conditions, it dangered-of the area to prevent
mners fromentering the area of adverse roof conditions. |In doing so,
Cyprus acted in accordance with accepted safe-nmning practice. 5/ There
is no evidence that at any time during the exi stence of the dangerous
roof conditions, other than during the attenpt to install additional roof
support, any miner worked or traveled in the cited area. Indeed, the
Secretary has conceded as much. 11 FMSHRC at 377; Tr. 11, 44, 49, 68-69.
See also Oral Arg. Tr. 33. The Secretary also did not prove that, while
the area was dangered off, the job duties of any miners required themto
enter the affected area. See, e.g., Oral Arg. Tr. 9-10, 32-34. Thus, the
record establishes that the operator acted appropriately in dangering-off
the area of bad roof and that no mners worked, traveled or were required
to enter into the area at issue.

I mportantly, we note that in the circunstances presented, the
Secretary agreed with Cyprus that installation of additional roof support
was neither necessary nor desirable. The Secretary al so agreed with Cyprus
that the safest and nost appropriate course to followin elimnating the
danger was to allow continuation of the nornmal | ongwall

5/ For exanple, section 303(d)(1) of the Mne Act provides:

If [a mne operator] finds a condition which
constitutes a violation of a mandatory heal th

or safety standard or any condition which is
hazardous to persons who may enter or be in such
area, he shall indicate such hazardous pl ace by
posi ng a "DANGER' sign conspicuously at all points
whi ch persons entering such hazardous place woul d
be required to pass .... No person, other than an
aut hori zed representati ve of the Secretary or a
State mne inspector or persons authorized by the
operator to enter such place for the purpose of
elimnating the hazardous condition therein, shal
enter such place which such sign if so posted.

30 U.S.C B63(d)(1). (emphasis added).
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m ning process so as to mne past the problemarea. Thus, the renedi al
action required by the Secretary here was nothing nore than what Cyprus
itself had determ ned was necessary in order to prevent mners from being
exposed to the hazard presented: prohibiting access into the tailgate and
continuing the normal m ning process until m ning progressed beyond the
danger ous area.

In sum we conclude that a violation of section 75.202(a) was not
establ i shed because, under the circunstances of this case, the area of
bad roof at issue was not an area where persons worked or travel ed.
Accordingly, the judge's finding of a violation is reversed, and the
citation and civil penalty are vacated.

Finally, Cyprus argues that the judge erred in affirm ng the
i mm nent danger withdrawal order. Cyprus argues that no persons were
exposed to the hazardous roof conditions since it prohibited access to the
area and that the nature of the cited roof conditions could not reasonably
have been expected to cause death or serious harm before they were abated.

Prelimnarily, we note that an inmm nent danger order need not be
based upon a violation of a nandatory standard in order to be valid.
See S. Rep. No. 461, 95th Cong., 1st Sess. 39 (1977), reprinted in
Senate Subconmittee on Labor, Committee on Human Resources, 95th Cong.
2d Sess., Legislative History of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act
of 1977, at 1317 (1978)("Legis. Hist."); Freeman Coal Mning Co., 1 |IBMNA
197, 207-08 (1973), aff'd, Freeman Coal Mning Co. v. |IBVMA 504 F.2d 741
(7th CGr. 1974). Accordingly, despite our vacation of the citation
alleging a violation of section 75.202(a), the question of the validity
of the inmm nent danger order remains.

The M ne Act defines an imm nent danger as "the exi stence of any
condition or practice in a coal or other mne which could reasonably be
expected to cause death or serious physical harm before such condition or
practice can be abated.” 30 U.S.C. 802(j). This definition is unchanged
fromthe definition contained in the Federal Coal Mne Health and Safety
Act of 1969, 30 U . S.C. 0801 et seq. (1976) (amended 1977)(the "1969 Coa
Act"). The Senate report on the Mne Act explains that the Secretary's
authority to issue inmnent danger orders "should be construed expansively
by inspectors and the Commission.” S. Rep. No. 181, 95th Cong., 1st Sess.
38 (1977), reprinted in Legis. Hst. Mne Act.

In di scussing the concept of inmm nent danger, we recently stated:

In analyzing [the] definition [of inmm nent
danger], the U. S. Courts of Appeals have eschewed
a narrow construction and have refused to limt the
concept of inm nent danger to hazards that pose an
i medi at e danger. See, e.g., Freeman Coal M ning
Co. v. Interior Bd. of Mne Op. App., 504 F.2d 741
(7th Cr. 1974). Al so, the Fourth Grcuit has
rejected the notion that a danger is immnent only
if there is a reasonable likelihood that it wll
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result in an injury before it can be abated. Eastern
Associ ated Coal Corp. v. Interior Bd. of Mne O. App.,
491 F.2d 277, 278 (4th Cr. 1974). The court adopted
the position of the Secretary that "an inm nent danger
exi sts when the condition or practice observed coul d
reasonably be expected to cause death or serious
physical harmto a mner if normal mning operations
were permtted to proceed in the area before the
dangerous condition is elimnated.” 491 F.2d at 278
(enphasis in original). The Seventh Circuit adopted
this reasoning in Ad Ben Coal Corp. v. Interior Bd
of Mne Op. App., 523 F.2d 25, 33 (7th Gr. 1975).

Rochester & Pittsburgh Coal Co., 11 FMSHRC 2159, 2163 (Novenber 1989).

The Seventh Circuit has further recognized the inportance of the
i nspector's judgnment in issuing an inm nent danger order

Clearly, the inspector is in a precarious position.
He is entrusted with the safety of mners' lives,
and he nust ensure that the statute is enforced for
the protection of these lives. Hi s total concern
is the safety of life and linb.... W nust support
the findings and the decisions of the inspector

unl ess there is evidence that he has abused his

di scretion or authority. (enphasis added).

ad Ben, supra, 523 F.2d at 31; Rochester & Pittsburgh, 11 FMSHRC at 2164.

W di sagree with Cyprus that because it had prohibited access to the
hazardous area, the Secretary's inm nent danger order was invalid. Under
section 107(a) of the Act, the Secretary is responsible not only for
determining the area of the nmne affected by the danger and renoving m ners
fromsuch area but al so determ ning when mners may safely re-enter the
af fected area because the conditions or practices that caused the danger no
| onger exist. W cannot conclude that the inspector abused his discretion
in issuing an order prohibiting re-entry into the area until the hazard was
elimnated. 6/

6/ Under the 1969 Coal Act, the Departnent of Interior s Board of M ne
Qper ations Appeal ("Board") addressed the legal effects of an operator's
vol untary wi thdrawal of mners upon the validity of imm nent danger

wi t hdrawal orders. dinchfield Coal Co., 1 IBVMA 33 (1971); The Valley Canp
Coal Co., 1 IBMA 243 (1972). |In these decisions, the Board enphasized
that an i nm nent danger wi thdrawal order is nore extensive than the nere
wi thdrawal of miners; it also confers jurisdiction to prohibit re-entry
until it is determined that the i mm nent danger no | onger exists. The
Board accordingly held that the issuance of the wthdrawal orders involved
in those proceedi ngs was proper even though the operator had voluntarily
withdrawn the miners fromthe mne before the i ssuance of the orders.
Ainchfield, supra, 1 IBVA at 41; Valley
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The hazards of roof falls are well known. See, e.g., UMM v.
Dol e, 870 F.2d 662, 664 (D.C. Gr. 1989) (citing the preanble to the
promul gati on of MSHA' s current roof support standards, 53 Fed Reg. 2354
(January 27, 1988). Here, Inspector G bson found that the roof was
sl anted downward, broken, and fractured. Tr. 30, 31-32. He also
found pi eces of roof about one foot wide and two or three feet in
length on the floor. Tr. 30, 44. He found two roof bolts with bearing
pl ates about 16 inches below the roof line. Tr. 36. He believed that
the roof | ooked so unstable that it could fall at any tinme, and that if
it did fall, it could cause serious physical harmor death. Tr. 31
Cyprus' w tnesses al so acknowl edged that the roof conditions in the cited
area. Tr. 96, 99, 111, 125. Cyprus' section foreman Moss testified that
"[t]here were sonme huge cracks the cribs squeezed together" and that the
roof "looked really heavy." Tr. 109.

Thus, we concl ude that substantial evidence supports the judge's
affirmance of the order. The inspector did not abuse his discretion in
issuing the order to control re-entry into an area of bad roof..

Canp, supra, 1 IBMA at 248
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M.

Accordingly, we affirmthe judge's action in permtting the
Secretary to nodify the citation and order, we reverse the judge's
finding that Cyprus violated section 75.202(a), we vacate the
citation and civil penalty assessed for the violation, and we
affirmthe i nm nent danger withdrawal order.
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Joint Exhibit No. 1
Conmi ssi oner Backl ey concurring in part and dissenting in part:

| respectfully dissent fromthat part of the majority decision
hol ding that no violation of 30 C.F. R 75.202(a) occurred.

There is no factual dispute regarding this issue. The cited roof
was in a highly dangerous condition. |ndeed today we all concl ude that
the roof condition constituted an inm nent danger. The gravity of the
situation was such that MSHA agreed with the operator's determ nation
that the risk involved in any renedial effort to support the roof was
unacceptable. The safer course of action was to danger-off the area
and m ne beyond the dangerous area. This the operator did. |Indeed,
the record indicates that no mners ventured past the yellow tape used
by the operator to danger-off the subject area.

In evaluating the | egal effect of the foregoing, the majority has
concl uded that no violation occurred "...because, under the circunstances
of this case, the area of bad roof at issue was not an area where persons
wor ked or traveled." Slip op. at 8.

| cannot agree with this cranmped construction of the cited regul ation
A reasonabl e reading of the majority's opinion wuld | ead one to concl ude
that it is now possible to imunize an area of the mne from MSHA
enforcenent if the area is successfully dangered-off. VWhet her or not
the majority intends to convey that nmessage is beside the point. In
nmy opi nion such a conclusion is wong and dangerously contrary to
Congressional intent.

I have carefully reviewed the record in this matter and find the
Secretary's argunments on this issue to be conpelling. The operator's

action in dangering-off the area was not only "...in accordance wth
accepted safe-mning practice", as determned by the majority, Slip op
at 7, but was in fact mandatory. |Indeed the operator's obligation under

the | aw goes beyond mnerely dangering-off the hazardous area. The roof

nmust be supported or controlled. In this case the cited roof was neither
supported nor controlled as required by the regul ation. The i mm nently
dangerous condition was ultimtely abated by mning past the cited area.

The majority, however, does not directly reach the issue of whether
the roof was controlled. The majority has determ ned that the Secretary
failed to prove that this was an area where persons worked or travel ed.
In so concluding, the majority has apparently rejected the well-reasoned
argunents to the contrary urged by the Secretary. Specifically, the
Secretary argues that ventilation and on-shift exam nations required the
presence of miners in the cited area. The Secretary also |ists other
necessary mai ntenance functions pertaining to the roof, water punp and
water |ines which would ordinarily cause miners to be in the cited area.
Most significantly, the Secretary argues that under the requirenents of
30 CF.R 75.215(a) the operator is required to



~923

mai ntain a safe travelway out of the section through the subject tailgate
side the longwall. 1In response to these argunents, Cyprus concedes t hat

al t hough the preshift and onshift exam nations did not require mner
exposure to the cited area, the weekly ventilati on exam nation required
under 30 C.F.R 75.305 was not a factor in this case because the subject
condition existed for approximately five days. Oal arg. at 9-10. W are
left with the inplication that had the condition exi sted beyond a week's
time, conpliance with the exam nation requirenent would have resulted in
m ner exposure to the cited roof.

In response to the Secretary's concerns regardi ng necessary
mai nt enance functions which would ordinarily cause miners to work under
the cited roof, Cyprus admitted that if the cited area had not been
dangered-off the installation of supplenmental roof support and the
mai nt enance of punps "would put theminto this particular area.™
Oral arg. 11-12.

Finally and nost significantly, in responding to the Secretary's
assertion that because 30 C.F. R 75.215(a) requires that the tailgate
side of the lIongwall be maintained as a safe travel way out of the section
Cyprus cannot sinply elimnate the subject tailgate entry as a pl ace
where persons work or travel, Cyprus argues that the headgate coul d be
used as an escape route, or as a last resort, the subject tailgate could
have been used since it was not physically blocked. Oal arg. at 8.

In consideration of the foregoing, it is clear that the subject
tail gate was "indisputably, normally an area where persons work or travel."
Sec. brief at 18, Oral arg. at 33. Accordingly, | conclude that the
regul atory threshold "where persons work or travel"” has been net in this
case. To do otherwi se, as the mpjority has reasoned, risks the dangerous
m sapprehensi on that conpliance can be achieved with tape and board.

In reaching its conclusion of no violation, the magjority places
significant inmportance upon the fact that " ...the renedial action
required by the Secretary was nothing nore than what Cyprus itself had
determ ned was necessary in order to prevent mners from being exposed
to the hazard presented..."” Slip op. at 7-8. | share that concern
| also agree that Cyprus did not fail to take remedial action. This
concern however is not relevant to the issue of whether the regul ation
was violated. The regulation contains no such exception. The roof where
persons work or travel shall be supported or otherw se controlled. The
fact that MSHA and Cyprus agreed that the dangerous roof was best |eft
undi st urbed, does not in any way dimnish or alter the fact that the
subj ect roof, located as it was within 36 inches of the tailgate shield
126, was in violation of 30 C F.R 75.202(a). The manner in which
conpliance is achieved is not an elenment relating to the determ nation
of whether a violation occurred. It is, however, expressly rel evant
in considering the appropriate amount of civil penalty to be assessed.
30 U.S.C. Section 820(i).
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Accordingly, | have concluded that the subject area was clearly
a place where persons work or travel and that the cited roof was not
supported or controlled and that therefore a violation of 30 C F. R
75.202(a) occurred.
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